SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-00476

JUDITH R. WHEAT

APPELLANT

VS.

JAMES M. WHEAT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2005-0763 JB HONORABLE JAYE BRADLEY, PRESIDING TRIAL JUDGE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT:

DEAN HOLLEMAN, MSB BOYCE HOLLEMAN & ASSOCIATES 1720—23rd Avenue-Boyce Holleman Blvd. Gulfport, MS 39501 (228) 863-3142 Telefax (228) 863-9829

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2008-CA-00476

JUDITH R. WHEAT

APPELLANT

VS.

JAMES M. WHEAT

APPELLEE

.

Facts: Introduction

Judy and James were married on January 8, 1988. They had one son, James, born on October 12, 1989. Tr.112. The parties separated as husband and wife in February 2005 after 16 years of marriage. Tr.107. The Complaint for Divorce was filed by Judy (irreconcilable differences) on May 5, 2005. James filed his Counter-Complaint for Divorce on the grounds of adultery. Following the trial in November 2006 and January 2007, the Court granted James a divorce upon the grounds of adultery. The Court's Judgment, *inter alia*, addressed custody, child support and the equitable division of property. The findings of the Chancellor as to the classification of marital assets and the setting of child support are manifestly wrong and/or clearly erroneous as will be discussed herein below. From that Judgment, Judy perfected her appeal.

The Separation: End of Marital Relationship

Judy and James physically lived together as husband and wife from the date of their marriage in 1988 until their separation. Both parties had their separate careers throughout the marriage. Beginning with their separation in February 2005, they thereafter lived separate lives up through the date of the final judgment. Upon the separation, Judy removed herself from the marrial home in which the parties had lived during the duration of the marriage. James and the parties' minor son continued to reside in the home through the trial. Tr.141.

¹ Judy was represented by other legal counsel through the trial of this case. Dean Holleman, of Boyce Holleman, P.A. was retained to handle the appeal of this case after the appeal was perfected.

² Due to the failure of a valuation being offered into evidence at trial on a retirement account belonging to James, the Court reopened the record in February 2008 and received the valuation. CP.82, RE.78.

After the separation, Judy and James began the process of beginning separate lives. They divided up the contents of the home, with Judy taking a loveseat, a television, some lamps, a bedroom set, a table and chairs, a computer, and a coffee table. Tr.34. Judy set up her own residence. She later purchased her own dishes, pots, pans, silverware, towels, sheets, linens, etc. and 'set up housekeeping' herself. Tr.35. She initially moved into the home of a friend, and then she rented her own apartment and paid her own rent. Tr.35-36. Judy spent some \$22,000.00 of her money to set up her new home. Tr.39. Thereafter, Judy began a new business with four partners. She then purchased a condominium that had been renovated by the business, Tr.35,37.

The parties' finances were also separated. Judy had her own checking accounts, none of which James used.³ Tr.41,45-47. Any checks or deposits on the accounts were her transactions. Tr.41. She had her own private health insurance. Tr.54. She had her own savings accounts. Tr.41. She paid her own car insurance and other incidentals. Tr.41-42. She had her own Christmas Club account. Tr.44. She purchased her own food and household supplies. Tr.75. She purchased her own clothes. Tr.77. She purchased her own medications. Tr.77. She provided support to their minor son of about \$300.00 per month. Tr.78. She paid one half of the son's auto insurance premium. Tr.80. She paid for her own entertainment. Tr.78-79. She paid her own car note. As further evidence of their agreement to separate their finances and lives, she refinanced her car with a new note and she took the debt off of the marital home equity line of credit. Tr.80,208. She also had her own credit cards and paid her own monthly payments. Tr.81,143. She made her own personal loans at a credit union and paid the monthly note. Tr.82. She purchased her own gasoline. Tr.83.

³ The parties separated themselves and their finances amicably and without the necessity of a hearing or temporary order.

After the Hurricane struck and damaged the home, she deferred to James the full control of the marital home. She relinquished to him the handling of the damages from Katrina and the related insurance and grant monies for those damages.⁴ Tr.122.

James also handled his own affairs after the separation. He had his own bank accounts from which he paid his own expenses. Tr.130-131. He had Judy sign over Merchant & Marine stock to his name only. Tr.132,145-146. He paid his own truck insurance. Tr.152. Finally, they each paid their portion for the son's clothing. Tr.164. In short, there was absolutely no 'joint' accumulation of any assets or liabilities by the parties after they separated in February 2005.

The Parties' Employments

Both parties worked the entire marriage. Both had retirement accounts related thereto. When they separated, Judy and James were approximately fifty three (53) years of age. Judy was employed in Pascagoula, where she had worked for some thirty (30) years. Her annual salary was approximately \$120,000.00. (Exhibit 2, RE.96). James was a long time employee of Merchants & Marine Bank in Jackson County, Mississippi. His annual salary was approximately \$91,820.00. (Exhibit 1, RE.96). Neither party had any health issues affecting his/her ability to be employed. Tr.1-8,106-109.

⁴ The separateness of the parties is shown further by James' Motion for Emergency Relief filed on May 10, 2006, (for which an Order was entered) wherein he acknowledged the parties separated as of March 1, 2005 and that he had "exclusive use of the marital home", notwithstanding the absence of a temporary order awarding him such. CP.24, RE.26.

⁵ As will be discussed herein below, this employment ended in May 2005, after the parties separated. The identity of the employer will not be revealed herein due to a confidential agreement reached between Judy and the employer. The identity of the employer may be found in Exhibit 4 and 4a which was introduced into evidence and sealed by Order of the Court. This exhibit has been since transmitted to the Supreme Court/Court of Appeals under seal.

Judy's Employment Severance Agreement

Related to the breakdown of the marriage of Judy and James was a relationship which Judy had with a coworker at her employment. In May 2005, after the divorce was filed and the parties separated, Judy and her employer entered negotiations regarding her future employment and her relationship with her co worker. In order to avoid any conflict of interest which would arise because of the relationship, the decision was made that Judy would separate from her employment in exchange for the employer's agreement providing, *inter alia*, for an advance of the earnings she would have earned between May 2005 and her anticipated retirement in May 2007. Tr.51,57. The "Confidential Settlement Agreement" reached by Judy and the employer, provided, *inter alia*, as follows:

2.4 Judy has worked for the Company for more than thirty years and is approaching early retirement age. The Company has determined that it is in its best interest to offer her the benefits provided for in this Agreement <u>to help bridge her to early retirement</u>, in exchange for Judy's promise to abide by all of the terms of this Agreement.

(Exhibit 4, RE.102, Referenced Paragraphs of "Confidential Settlement Agreement")[emphasis ours]

In order to provide Judy with what she would have earned had she worked from May 2005 until May 2007 (retirement age), the agreement provided further:

3.1 A lump sum payment of \$395,000.00, representing the <u>approximate value of the pay and benefits Judy is foregoing by resigning before early retirement age</u>. This payment will be made, less applicable withholding, within ten business days following Judy's termination date as set forth in Section 4 of this Agreement.

(Exhibit 4, RE.102, Referenced Paragraphs of "Confidential Settlement Agreement")[emphasis ours]

Pursuant to the Agreement, in May 2005 Judy received the aforementioned consideration of her advance pay. Taxes and social security were deducted with the net proceeds equaling \$267,707.50. Exhibit 4A,RE.103. Judy placed these funds into her own account. After this

separation from her employment in May 2005, she began withdrawing a monthly amount from the funds as a substitute for the salary she would have earned had she remained employed through May 2007.⁶ Tr. 19-20;44-45,47,95. At the time of trial in October 2007, the remaining balance of these funds was approximately \$61,000.00 after her monthly withdrawals. Tr.95.

Also, in connection with the severance, the employer paid Judy an additional \$52,448.35 for the contributions that would have been paid to her IRA between May 2005 and May 2007, had she remained employed. Tr.46. Judy placed these funds in a certificate of deposit and showed them on her financial declaration. Exhibit 1, RE.86.

The following are <u>all</u> of the assets and liabilities of the parties whether deemed marital or **non marital (in bold):**

ASSET	VALUE	REFERENCE
Marital Home	\$130,000.00	CP.70,Tr.117
Marital 1st Mortgage	-\$75,872.00	Tr. 117,150
Marital 2nd-Hancock Bank	-\$40,816.00	Tr.117,208,150,2
Katrina Insurance Proceeds	\$29,500.00	CP.71,Tr.121
Katrina Insurance Proceeds	\$146,892.00	CP.71
		CP.52,57-
James Merchants Stock	\$34,720.00	58,132,145
		CP.52,57-
James Morgan Keegan IRA	\$57,116.00	58,133,246
James 401K	\$80,000.00	CP.70,Tr.134
James Pension Plan	\$180,484.00	CP.41-45, 52,70
James GMC Truck	\$20,400.00	CP.71
James GMC Truck-Loan	-\$16,127.00	Exhibit 1
James Checking	\$360.00	Exhibit 1
James Savings	\$11,120.00	Exhibit 1
James Furnishings etc	\$29,450.00	CP.71,72

⁶ On her financial declaration (Exhibit 2, RE.96) Judy shows "income" of \$9,898.00 per month ["Until May 2007"] which was her monthly draw from her severance proceeds for May 2005 through May 2007. This money is taken from a money market account and deposited each month into a First State checking account from which she pays her expenses. She did not show the severance funds as an "asset". Tr. 44-45. Exhibit 2, RE.96.

Judy-Condominium	\$85,000.00	Tr.37-38
Judy-Condominium-Mortgage	-\$85,000.00	Tr.37-38
Judy Checking/Savings	\$12,774.00	Exhibit 2.
Judy Stock-Individual	\$54,569.00	Exhibit 2; Tr.49
Judy Stock-Long Term	\$180,676.00	Exhibit 2.
		Exhibit 2;
Judy IRA Bridge-Severance ⁷	\$52,448.00	Tr.??????
Judy-Ingalls Retirement	\$18,764.00	Exhibit 2; CP.70
Judy-Northrup Retirement	\$46,140.00	Exhibit 2.
James Liabilities (w/o mtgs,		
auto)	-\$10,300.00	Exhibit 1.
Judy Liabilities (w/o mtgs,		
auto)	-\$51,672.00	Exhibit 2.
Judy Accura	\$20,000.00	CP.71,Tr.29
Judy Accura Loan	-\$19,465.00	Exhibit 2; Tr.29
Judy-Net Severance Package ⁸	\$257,707.00	CP.70,Tr.47;
		Exhibit 4, 4a.
TOTAL NET VALUE OF		
<u>ALL</u> ASSETS	\$1,148,868.00	

The **bolded** assets in the above list indicate the assets which the Chancellor determined, erroneously, to be non marital and which are at issue as discussed herein below. Further, at issue herein will be the 2nd mortgage on the marital home, the IRA bridge severance, and Judy's net severance package from her employment.

Judgment of the Trial Court

Upon the conclusion of the trial and post trial supplementation and hearings the Chancellor made the following ruling for child support and division of property:

⁷ This asset was accumulated outside the marriage in connection with Judy's severance agreement of May 2005 and was for future IRA contributions as discussed herein below.

⁸ This asset was accumulated outside the marriage in connection with Judy's severance agreement of May 2005 and was for future IRA contributions as discussed herein below.

- The Court ordered Judy to pay James child support of \$750.00 per month, one-half of the child's auto insurance premiums, one-half of the child's health insurance premiums and non covered medical bills, and one half of college expenses; and
- 2. The Court awarded James the following assets and liabilities (Chancellor's marital or non-marital status noted): Marital home \$130,000.00; 2nd Mortgage (-\$75,872.00)⁹; Katrina insurance proceeds \$29,500.00; Katrina grant proceeds \$146,892.00; James' Merchant & Marine Stock \$34,720.00; James' Morgan Keegan IRA \$57,116.00; James' 401k \$80,000.00; James' Pension Plan-Merchants & Marine \$180,484.00; James' GMC Truck \$20,400.00; James truck loan (-\$16,127.00); James' checking account \$360.00; James' savings account \$11,120.00; James' furnishings \$29,450.00; One half of Judy's Stock-Long Term \$90,338.00; James' liabilities (-\$10,300.00). James' net total is \$708,081.00. If the bolded assets, which the Court deemed non marital, are deducted from this total his net total is \$435,761.00, i.e. this is the value of the 'marital assets' awarded James as determined by the Court.
- 3. The Court awarded Judy the following assets and liabilities: Judy's condominium \$85,000.00; Judy's condominium mortgage (-\$85,000.00)¹⁰; Judy's checking/savings \$12,774.00; Judy's stock/individual \$54,569.00; One half Judy's stock-long term

⁹ The Chancellor's finding that the first mortgage being assigned to James had a balance due of \$116,688.00 was clearly erroneous. The amount recited by the Chancellor was the actual total of the 1st and 2nd mortgages combined. Thus, James' financial position was \$40,816.00 better than as ordered by the Chancellor, i.e. less debt. CP.60, RE.59; Tr.117,150; Exhibit 1,2.,RE.86, 96

¹⁰ Although this asset was purchased after separation and therefore accumulated outside the marriage, the value equals the debt, so there is no net effect.

\$90,338.00; Judy's IRA Bridge Severance \$52,448.00¹¹; Judy's Ingall's Retirement \$18,764.00; Judy's employment Retirement \$46,140.00; Judy's liabilities (-51,672.00); Judy's Accura \$20,000.00; Judy's Accura loan (-\$19,465.00) and Judy's Net Severance Package \$257,707.00 for a net total of \$481,603.00. However, if the IRA Bridge Severance of \$52,448.00 (Judy contends non marital) and Judy's Net Severance Package of \$257,707.00 (Judy contends non marital) are both excluded, Judy's net total of 'marital assets' is reduced to \$171,448.00 compared to James' \$708,081.00, including his assets deemed non marital. Even if you exclude these 'non marital assets' his net total is still a hefty \$435,761.00 compared to Judy's \$171,448.00. Such an award is far from equitable as will be shown herein below.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Judy asserts that the Chancellor was manifestly wrong in its failure to establish a date or point in time to specifically identify the marital assets, in erroneously classifying assets accumulated outside the marriage as marital and in erroneously classifying assets to be non marital, when in fact they were all or partially marital assets. Finally, the Court erred in its awarding child support and the basis and methodology used to arrive at her award.

"Assets so acquired or accumulated *during* the course of the marriage are marital assets and are subject to an equitable distribution by the chancellor." *Hemsley,Supra*. Just as important is the holding in *Hemsley* that holds that if an asset is shown to be "associated solely with one party's estate prior to <u>or outside of marriage</u>" then the asset is subject to equitable distribution.

Id. While marital property is defined as any and all property acquired or accumulated during the

¹¹ Again, this asset was accumulated outside the marriage in connection with Judy's severance agreement of May 2005 and was for future IRA contributions as discussed herein below.

marriage, assets attributable to a parties' separate estate or those accumulated outside the marriage are non-marital and should be classified as the separate property of the owner.

Hemsley, Supra.

A trial court must determine what date will be considered as the date for identifying and valuing assets. By failing to specifically find this 'date of identification and valuation', the trial court's determination of what the marital assets will be is fatally flawed. See *Godwin*, Supra; *Hensarling*, Supra.

The Supreme Court in *Hensarling*, dealt with an investment account which was in existence during the marriage and at the time of the separation of the parties. *Hensarling* specifically stands for the proposition that any asset accumulation <u>after</u> the separation date of the parties ('separate lives' and 'outside the marriage') is the sole property of the spouse accumulating the asset. Id. At 591: "We now turn to the issue of the award of interest accrued **from the date of separation to the date of the Final Judgment**." Id. At 591. [emphasis ours]. The Supreme Court specifically focused upon and directed that the determination of the non-marital portion of the husband's account would be from the "date of separation to the date of the Final Judgment". Id.

There is no question that Judy and James' actions following the date of their separation in February 2005 support no other conclusion than that they began their separate lives, both physically and financially. Their date of separation was a clear 'line of demarcation' which the Chancellor, as a matter of fairness and equity, should have recognized and followed. As a result of not doing so, the Chancellor clearly erred in classifying Judy's assets from her severance agreement as marital assets.

Judy's severance agreement and monies received was accumulated outside the marriage and after the date of separation. The severance she received was for 'future' income and had nothing to do with the duration of the marriage. As a state adhering to the equitable distribution regime for property division, Mississippi has dealt only minimally with the question of whether severance pay in general is considered a marital asset and ultimately subject to equitable distribution. A severance package received for a period of past years of service rendered during the marriage has been held to be a marital asset by the Mississippi Court of Appeal. Prescott, supra. Judy's severance package was not accumulated during the marriage and was not attributable to the 'joint' efforts of the parties, and is not a marital asset. Hensarling, Infra. Also, included with the severance was a "bridge" IRA payment for what would have been paid to Judy's IRA had she remained employed from May 2005 through May 2007. The value of this asset is shown on Judy's financial declaration at a value of \$52,448.00. This asset was accumulated after the parties separated as husband and wife and was not attributable to any contribution from the marital estate or the joint efforts of the parties. Ferguson, Infra; Hemsley, Infra; Hensarling, Infra.

Regardless of James' testimony that he was vested with his pension plan when he married Judy, the value of this pension was increased by his years of service during the marriage as shown by his own expert's report. The appreciated value of this pension accumulated during the marriage should have been included as a marital asset and to not include this value as a marital asset is error. The exclusion of the appreciation of some \$170,000.00 as a marital asset was error and such rendered the distribution of assets as inequitable. *Ferguson*, Infra; *Hemsley*, Infra; *Hensarling*, Infra.

James' Merchants & Marine stock was valued at \$34,720.00. The Chancellor concluded this stock was non-marital. This conclusion was based solely upon the testimony of James and notwithstanding the fact that the stock was in both parties name up to the date of their separation. There were no documents offered to support his testimony of a non marital status. Therefore, having failed to offer evidence of its non-marital status by more than a "mere demonstration", this asset should have been labeled as a marital asset. *Hemsley v. Hemsley*, 639 So.2d at 915; See also *A. & L. Inc. v. Grantham*, 747 So.2d 832 (Miss. 1999); *Pearson v. Pearson*, 761 So.2d 157 (Miss. 2000); *Johnson v. Johnson*, 650 So.2d 1281, 1286 (Miss. 1994).

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