IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JUDITH R. WHEAT

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2008-CA-00476

JAMES M. WHEAT

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disgualification or recusal.

- 1. Judith R. Wheat, Appellant
- 2. Dean Holleman 1720 23rd Avenue Boyce Holleman Blvd. Gulfport, MS 39501 Attorney for Appellant
- 3. James M. Wheat, Appellee
- 4. Gary L. Roberts
 1034 Jackson Avenue
 Post Office Box 237
 Pascagoula, MS 39567

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In a shotgun approach, Judy raises multiple issues on appeal, arguing, essentially, that the trial court committed eight reversible errors. Six of those issues involve either the trial court's classification of assets (marital versus non-marital) or the equitable distribution of marital assets and liabilities. The remaining two issues focus upon the court's child support determination, and how the Chancellor calculated an appropriate amount.

By applying the appropriate standard of review with respect to each of the issues raised by Judy, the inescapable conclusion is that the Chancellor applied the law correctly to the facts at hand, and, where vested with discretionary authority, she was not manifestly in error and did not abuse her discretion.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of the appellate court's review of a Chancellor's decision in cases involving divorce and all related issues is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule. R.K. v. J.K., 946 So.2d 764, 772 (Miss. 2007) (citing Mizell v. Mizell, 708 So.2d 55, 59 (Miss. 1998)). The appellate court will not reverse a Chancellor's Judgment unless the Chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. Particularly in the area of divorce and child support, appellate court "must respect a chancellor's findings of fact which are supported by credible evidence and not manifestly wrong." Manifest error means that error which is unmistakable, clear, plain, or indisputable. Magee v. Magee, 661 So.2d 1117 (Miss. 1995); Bell v. Parker, 563 So. 2d 594 (Miss. 1990). It is not the function of an appellate court to substitute its judgment for that of the chancellor.

The trial judge is in the best position to view the trial. The trial judge hears the witnesses live, observes their demeanor and in general smells the smoke of the battle. By his very position he is far better equipped than an appellate court to make findings of fact that have the desired and needed reliability.

Gavin v. State, 473 So.2d 952, 955 (Miss. 1985).

ISSUE ONE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN INCLUDING THE SEVERANCE PACKAGE AS A MARITAL ASSET

Judy contends that the severance package is her non-marital property. Her entire argument on this issue is based upon two fallacious premises. First she states (Brief of Appellant, Page 18), that the \$395,000.00 severance money she received "...had nothing to do with years of service or past performance". Second she asserts that, since she actually received the severance package money after she left her husband for her lover, the money is, somehow, her non-marital property. The severance agreement itself (Ex. 4) as well as the evidence presented at trial, and the law of this State demonstrate the contrary.

The agreement recites that Judy and Mr. Dur have jointly determined that, for personal reasons, Judy will resign from her employment with the company (Paragraph 2.0). It notes that Judy has worked for the company for more than thirty years and is approaching early retirement. Further, it acknowledges the company's interest in offering her the benefits provided in the agreement, in exchange for Judy's promise to abide by all of the its terms (Paragraph 2.4). While Judy received a lump sum payment of \$395,000.00 by resigning prior to her normal early retirement age (Paragraph 3.1), in consideration for what she received, Judy released and promised not to sue the company for virtually any cause of action that she might otherwise have (Paragraphs 5.0

through 5.4). It includes any claims that Judy doesn't even know or suspect that she has.

If in fact Judy had any claim against her employer (as a result of the unwritten company policy which would not allow both her and her paramour to work in the same sector), it is a claim that would clearly be marital in nature, since so much of Judy's employment with the company occurred during the marriage. Moreover, even her resignation took place during the marriage and more than a year and a half prior to the commencement of trial. These factors alone well justify the Chancellor's discretionary determination that the severance money is marital property.

The fact that Judy actually received the severance package money after she left her husband is also of no moment, for at least two reasons. First, there is no hard and fast rule that requires a Chancellor to treat money received after a separation as non-marital funds. For instance, see Pittman, 791 So.2d 857 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) and Sullivan, 990 So.2d 783 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). The Chancellor is afforded wide discretion in determining the exact date upon which the joint accumulation of marital assets actually ceases. Such a determination is committed to the discretion and conscience of the Court, considering all of the equities, facts and relevant circumstances. Chamblee, 637 So.2d 850 (Miss. 1994). A Chancellor's discretionary authority when dealing with matters of equitable distribution is exceedingly broad. Chamblee, supra, at 864 (emphasis added).

Second, and perhaps much more importantly, Judy had been employed with the company for a period in excess of thirty years, a great majority of which occurred during her marriage to Jimmy. For Judy to suggest that the severance money is non-marital because the amount she received equates roughly to two future years worth of salary and benefits, is just as disingenuous as the contingency fee Plaintiff's lawyer who, makes a similar claim after working on a case for many years during the marriage, but actually receives a large fee after the separation.

In Striebeck v. Striebeck, 5 So.3d 450 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008), such a scenario did in fact occur. Bill Striebeck, an attorney, contended on appeal that the Chancellor erred in concluding that certain attorney's fees he got paid were marital property. Following the appeal, the Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed. Even though Bill Striebeck and his wife had already separated while Bill was earning the contingency fee at issue, the Court of Appeals opinion notes that Bill still performed the legal work earning the fee during the period of the actual marriage. There was no temporary support order entered prior to the actual receipt of the contingent attorney's fee. Likewise, in the instant case there was no temporary support order in place prior to Judy receiving the severance money. In the face of these facts, the Court of Appeals concluded "...there is no doubt that the fees from the [case at issue] were marital property." Striebeck, supra at 454. ruling is entirely consistent with well established Mississippi

law. Marital property includes "...any and all property acquired or accumulated during the marriage." <u>Hemsley v. Hemsley</u>, 639 So.2d 909, 915 (Miss. 1994); <u>Owen v. Owen</u>, 928 So.2d 156, 160 (Miss. 2006).

In support of her argument, Judy cites <u>Prescott v. Prescott</u>, 736 So.2d 407 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). It indeed deals with a severance package, but it does not hold, as Judy would suggest, that money received in a severance package after the date of separation is non-marital in nature. In fact, <u>Prescott</u> specifically stands for the opposite proposition, i.e., that a severance package awarded to a terminated employee of long standing, is in fact a marital asset, specifically because of the many years of past service rendered.

Judy also turns to Pennsylvania, California, and Ohio for purported authority. While Jimmy does not take issue with what the law may be in those States, the logic in Mississippi law is certainly compelling. If in fact the law in Mississippi is as Judy tries to persuade this Court it should be, every severance package case that arises in the future will contain a self-fulfilling prophecy and will essentially tie the hands of every Mississippi Chancellor. Put differently, every separated employee will simply require, before accepting any severance package that the agreement itself recites that the money being paid is for the purpose of awarding the employee future income, and is not for years of devoted service as an employee. If such language were controlling, what employee would do otherwise?

The answer, simply put, is that the law, at least in the State of Mississippi, is that the Court should and will look to the totality of the circumstances and to the substance of the agreement reached. See <u>Chamblee</u>, supra. Equity demands such. In the instant case, Judy agreed to release her employer from virtually any and all causes of action that she might have by virtue of her termination. Surely if she had been fired, rather than voluntarily resigning with the severance package, she would not be arguing that her cause of action against the company for wrongful termination is non-marital in nature. Particularly is this true when considering the fact that the cause of Judy's termination was her extramarital affair with the company president.

The Chancellor correctly concluded that the severance package was marital in nature. Judy cannot credibly argue that the Chancellor was manifestly in error in so ruling.

ISSUE TWO

THE IRA MONEY, RECEIVED AS PART OF THE SEVERANCE PACKAGE, IS ALSO MARITAL PROPERTY.

Judy's argument here is identical to the proposition she advances in Issue 1. She focuses on some \$52,448.00 shown on her Financial Declaration (Ex 2) which she received in conjunction with the severance payment. She refers to it as a bridge IRA payment for the sum of money that would have been paid to her IRA if she had remained employed with the company through the date of her early retirement, some two years later.

Once more, Judy's only real argument is that she actually got the money after the parties separated. She cites no other authority in support of her argument.

Again, her argument must fail. If this Court agrees with Judy, every future employee in Mississippi who negotiates a severance package will simply include language to the effect that the money is being paid only in consideration of the loss of future income. Such agreement might as well specifically recite that the money being paid is the non-marital property of the terminated employee.

Furthermore, if this Court is persuaded by Judy's logic, it would strip Chancellors of vested discretionary authority and require them to ignore the equities, the facts and the relevant circumstances they are, as trier's of fact, obligated to consider.

ISSUE THREE

JIMMY'S INTEREST IN THE MERCHANTS AND MARINE BANK PENSION PLAN IS CLEARLY NON-MARITAL, AND THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN SO FINDING

On appeal, Judy now contends that a portion of Jimmy's interest in the Merchant and Marine Bank Pension Plan is marital. She is estopped from making that argument on appeal, as it is clear that, at the trial level, she agreed it was non-marital in nature. She is precluded by law from raising this issue on appeal for the first time. Aron v. Reid, 850 So.2d 108 (Ms. Ct. App. 2002); Read v. Southern Pine Elec. Power Ass'n, 515 So.2d 916, 921 (Miss. 1987).

Moreover, the evidence unmistakably established that the pension plan was and remains non-marital in character. A careful reading of the entire record confirms this.

On pages 134 and 135 of the Transcript, Jimmy was asked on direct examination about his interest in that Plan. He noted that he never contributed to the Plan, and that the Bank made all of the contributions prior to the parties' marriage. More importantly, he stated

A. You have to have five years of service to be totally vested in the plan, and you have -- your vesting also includes up to 15 years where you, once you have been there 15 years you are eligible for the maximum benefits at retirement time.

- Q. So you were vested in that well before you even got married?
- A. Correct (T 135).

Thus, Jimmy was entitled to the maximum benefits from the plan before he and Judy actually were married. Years of marriage to Judy did not enhance the benefit he will receive when he finally does retire.

Additional evidence in support of Jimmy's position was presented at the post-trial Motion hearing, in response to the Court's request for more information regarding the value of the Jimmy filed an M.R.C.P. Rule 59 Motion because the Plan. Chancellor's original Ruling correctly valued Jimmy's interest in the Plan as being approximately \$180,000.00, but improperly adjudicated it to be marital, rather than non-marital property. Attached to the Motion is the Affidavit of the Bank President, verifying that the pension plan had not been funded by the Bank since 1984, years prior to the Wheat marriage. Accordingly, no further contributions thereafter were made. Since Jimmy's fifteen years of service with the Bank prior to marriage entitled him to the maximum monthly benefit upon his retirement, no genuine argument can be made that the account is marital.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has adopted the active/passive test to determine whether the appreciation of a non-marital asset is marital or non-marital. In <u>Carrow v. Carrow</u>, 642 So.2d 901, 906 (Miss. 1994), our Supreme Court held that the appreciated value of a husband's Corvette collection was marital because the couple

performed renovation and repair work to the vehicles which is what caused the increase in value. The converse is also true. For example, income produced by a husband's separate investments remains separate, specifically because no active effort was involved in its growth or appreciation. Franks v. Franks, 759 So.2d 1164, 1166-68 (Miss. 1999). Further, in Haney v. Haney, 788 So.2d 862, 865-66 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001), the appreciation on a husband's investment accounts during the marriage was deemed to be non-marital upon his divorce.

Finally, Jimmy's interest in the Merchants and Marine Bank Pension Plan is non-marital for the simple reason that Judy so This is abundantly clear, in spite of the fact that Judy now attempts to withdraw her stipulation, or assert that the Court misunderstood exactly what she was stipulating to. A quick look at the record belies Judy's argument, and it clears up any misunderstanding, if indeed there had been one up to that point. Beginning on page 253, Jimmy's counsel specifically takes issue with the trial court's original determination that the Pension Plan was marital in nature. Counsel's argument focuses specifically upon the reasoning cited above, emphasizing that the approximate \$180,000.00 interest should have been classified as Jimmy's nonmarital property. Even though the original Judgment awarded all of the plan to him, it awarded Judy a corresponding \$180,000.00 worth of other marital assets, so that the marital estate would be divided nearly equally. Thus, if it was the Court's intention to divide the marital estate equally, it is of the utmost importance

that Jimmy not be penalized by having the \$180,000.00 interest in the pension plan classified as being marital. If nothing else, that issue is abundantly clear from the testimony at the post-trial motion hearing. When specifically asked about that, Judy's counsel candidly stipulated

"MR. TISDALE: The Wife conceded that. She conceded that that was non-marital property." (T 259)

Under these circumstances, for all of the above and foregoing reasons that the Merchants and Marine Bank Pension Plan belongs solely to Jimmy. Judy had no marital interest in the plan. The Chancellor cannot be found in error by so ruling.

ISSUE FOUR

JIMMY'S MERCHANTS AND MARINE BANK STOCK WAS NON-MARITAL PROPERTY. THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN SO RULING

The Chancellor adjudicated that the Merchants and Marine Bank stock, valued at \$34,720.00 was Jimmy's non-marital property. In her Brief on appeal, Judy states, "this conclusion was based solely upon the testimony of James" (Brief of Appellant, Page 26). Judy has forgotten, or conveniently overlooked her own testimony. Concerning those shares, during cross examination, she was specifically asked:

- Q. You consider those shares of stock whatever they are to be his separate property?
- A. Yes (T. 224).

Even if some of the shares were at one time made marital by Jimmy's action in placing both names on them (neither party knew exactly how many shares), they were made non-marital once again when Judy placed those shares back solely in Jimmy's name. In Mississippi, property acquired by gift belongs to the individual owner. Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921, 928 (Miss. 1994). Accordingly, if Judy acquired a marital interest in an unknown number of Merchant and Marine Bank stock shares by way of a gift from Jimmy, they were re-acquired by Jimmy, as his non-marital property, when Judy conveyed them back.

For both of these reasons, either of which is sufficient when standing alone, Judy's argument here has no merit.

ISSUE FIVE

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